CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

A. Circuit Judge

Vernon R. Cotten 205 Main Street

Carthage, Mississippi 39051

C. Parties

Appellant:

Gigi Kilhullen

Appellees:

Kansas City Southern Railway Company and

Robert W. Lay

D. Attorneys

Appellants:

Barry W. Gilmer Reid S. Bruce

GILMER LAW FIRM Post Office Box 919

Madison, Mississippi 39130-0919

Appellees:

Charles E. Ross

Bill Lovett

WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi, erred in granting Defendants Kansas
 City Southern Railway Company And Robert W. Lay's Motion For Summary Judgment on
 the issue of the obstruction of Thomas Kilhullen's line of sight at the subject railroad
 crossing.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi, erred in rejecting the Affidavit of Appellant's licensed Professional Engineer, Jimmy C. Halfacre.
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi, erred in rejecting the Affidavit of preeminent Accident Reconstructionist Brett Alexander.
- 4. Whether the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi, erred in rejecting the Affidavit of Lay Witness Jimmy Shelton.
- 5. Whether the Circuit Court of Scott County, Mississippi, erred in disallowing the Appellant to conduct discovery in this matter, including the deposition of the sole eyewitness to the collision, Classie Ward, while at the same time allowing the Defendants to conduct any and all discovery as the Defendants deemed necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 2000, Thomas D. Kilhullen was operating a tractor-trailer rig within the City of Morton, Mississippi, along Herring Road at the point at which Herring Road intersects the railroad line owned and operated by Kansas City Southern Railway Company leading to a woodyard depot owned and operated by International Paper Company. (Record at 6). While approaching the woodyard depot, Thomas D. Kilhullen attempted to operate his tractor-trailer rig along Herring Road across and over the railroad grade crossing mentioned above. As Thomas D. Kilhullen attempted to pass over the railroad grade crossing, the engine and twenty-seven (27) freight cars operated by the engineer, Robert W. Lay, struck the tractor-trailer rig operated by Thomas D. Kilhullen with great force and violence, thereby causing the death of Thomas D. Kilhullen. (Record at 6). The collision was observed by a witness, Classie Ward, who was approaching the train tracks at the time that Kilhullen was proceeding over them. (Record at 307, Record Excerpts at 15) The collision between the tractor-trailer rig and the Kansas City Southern train was solely and proximately caused by the negligence of the Defendant, Kansans City Southern, in allowing vegetation and a mound of earth to obstruct Kilhullen's view of the oncoming train. (Record at 7). Thomas D. Kilhullen survived the collision for a short while, thereby entitling his estate to the recovery of damages as contemplated by Mississippi law. Thomas D. Kilhullen is survived by his widow, Gigi Kilhullen. (Record at 6).

On December 4, 2001, Gigi Kilhullen filed the instant lawsuit alleging that Kansas City Sourthern and the other named Defendants negligently caused the death of Thomas Kilhullen. (Record at 4). On December 21, 2001, Defendant Illinois Central Gulf Railroad Company, filed its Motion To Dismiss which alleged that Defendant Illinois Central did not exercise any ownership or control over the railroad crossing at the time that Kilhullen was killed by the Kansas City Southern

train. (Record at 31-68). On December 26, 2001, Appellee Kansas City Southern filed its Answer to the Kilhullen's Complaint which denied any liability relative to the subject incident. (Record at 69-76). On January 4, 2002, Defendant International Paper Company filed its Answer which further alleged no liability relative to the Kilhullen's death. (Record at 77-86). Thereafter, the parties engaged in discovery and the Kilhullen agreed to voluntarily dismiss Defendant Illinois Central after it became clear that said Defendant no longer owned the railroad crossing in question, but had instead sold the property to Appellee Kansas City Southern. (Record at 31-68, 92).

The trial of this matter was first continued on May 14, 2002, at the request of Mr. Charlie Ross, counsel for Appellee Kansas City Southern. (Record at 125). On January 6, 2003, Attorney Ross again requested a continuance of the trial of this matter claiming legislative privilege. (Record at 224). This request for continuance was granted by two separate Orders entered on January 8, 2003 and January 10, 2003. (Record at 229, 230). The matter was then continued twice more at Attorney Ross' request on May 29, 2003 and August 11, 2003, with Attorney Ross claiming legislative privilege each time. (Record at 234, 235 and 242). This pattern was repeated yet again on December 1, 2003, April 2, 2004, September 29, 2004, April 4, 2005, July 13, 2005 and March 24, 2006.² (Record at 245, 261, 262, 265, 543, 659, 662, 708, 714, 717, 718, 822, 826). All in all, the trial of this matter was continued no less than twelve (12) times at the behest of the Defendants.

On October 22, 2004, the Appellee filed a Motion For Summary Judgment which alleged that

¹ Defendant Robert W. Lay, the engineer who was operating the Kansas City Southern train, is represented by the same attorneys as Kansas City Southern. His Answer was filed on March 20, 2002. (Record at 104-111).

²Appellant would show that one of these continuances was indeed requested by the Appellant.

the collision in question was caused solely by the failure of Kilhullen to stop, look and listen at the railroad crossing. (Record at 278-331). The Appellee further alleged that Kilhullen "had an unobstructed view up the track and could see the approaching train (had he looked)" (Record at 279). The Appellee further alleged that "warning signs were posted at the crossing, and the topography and weather were not such as would interfere with the train's warnings" (Id).

In support of its Motion For Summary Judgment, Kansas City Southern produced a vague and incomplete Affidavit which was signed by the sole non-party witness to the accident, Ms. Classie Ward of Lena Mississippi. (Record at 307, Excerpts at 15). Ms. Ward stated that she observed Kilhullen's tractor trailer rig "slowly" moving onto the railroad tracks. Ms. Ward did not state whether or not Kilhullen stopped before approaching the railroad tracks and Ms. Ward's Affidavit completely lacked other key details surrounding the collision such as the speed at which Kilhullen was traveling and details concerning the actual impact. (Id). Kansas City Southern also produced other self-serving Affidavits from the train's engineer, Robert Lay, and other investigators which also failed to include key details relative to the collision.

On November 19, 2004, Kilhullen filed a Motion To Hold Motion For Summary Judgment In Abeyance, which stated that the Motion For Summary Judgment was premature given that Kilhullen had just served notice of the depositions of the seventeen (17) individuals and investigators listed as witnesses, including Ms. Classie Ward, the sole non-party witness to the accident. (Record at 329-330, 335). Furthermore, Kilhullen correctly pointed out that Appellee Kansas City Southern had repeatedly failed to properly respond to discovery requests in this matter and that Attorney Ross' repeated legislative absences had hindered both the prosecution of the matter and the completion of discovery (including numerous depositions) in the civil action. (Record at 335).

Kilhullen further provided the Circuit Court with the Affidavit of Jimmy Shelton, an experienced truck driver and an investigator employed by the Gilmer Law Firm, which stated that the obstructions at the railroad crossing prevented Kilhullen from properly visualizing the subject locomotive in a manner which would have allowed Kilhullen to safely move across the railroad tracks. (Record at 340-342, Excerpts at 17) Shelton utilized simple mathematical calculations to determine that the available sight distance at the crossing prevented Kilhullen from apprehending the presence of the train until Kilhullen's fully loaded tractor-trailer rig was already past the point of no return. Shelton therefore concluded that "it was impossible for Kilhullen to move his truck across the tracks and clear the tracks before being struck by the train." (Record at 342, Excerpts at 17).

On November 19, 2004, Kilhullen filed a Motion To Compel which stated that Appellee Kansas City Southern had failed to fully respond to twenty (20) separate Interrogatories and twenty-four (24) Requests For Production which had previously been propounded by Kilhullen on May 14, 2002. (Record at 343-542). The information and documents which were the subject of the Motion To Compel were not merely spurious, but were vital in terms of couching a response to the Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment. Furthermore, the information and documents which were listed in Kilhullen's Motion To Compel were essential if the Court was to make an unbiased and clearly reasoned determination as to the propriety of the Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment. The Defendants' failure to properly answer the Appellant's discovery requests is key in this matter since it is clear that the Defendants made a strategic decision to provide only partial and incomplete discovery responses and prevent the depositions of key persons while also filing a Motion For Summary Judgment in an attempt to prevent any further discovery in this matter,

including the deposition of the eyewitness to the accident, Classie Ward. This is particularly important because the main crux of the Defendants' argument as presented in their Motion For Summary Judgment is whether Kilhullen stopped at the railroad crossing. To date, Classie Ward has not yet offered a clear opinion on that key fact.

As to the Defendant's written discovery responses to the Appellant's discovery requests, the majority of the required answers were either grossly incomplete or remained altogether unanswered. For example, in response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 1, Kansas City Southern failed to identify the name, address and telephone number of the person preparing each incident report, accident report and/or other document relating to and/or pertaining to the subject incident. Specifically, Kansas City Southern produced "handwritten notes" and failed to state the name, address, telephone number and place of employment of the person or person(s) who prepared the handwritten notes.³ (Record at 416). In response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 2, Kansas City Southern failed to provide the work schedule of Gilbert Sharp on June 18, 2000, including the times he came on duty, the time he went off duty, the time he took a break or otherwise rested and his activities during said period. In its Response and Supplemental Response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 2, Kansas City Southern refers Kilhullen to the deposition of Robert Lay at pages 60 and 72-74. (Record at 428). Kilhullen would show that Robert Lay testified in his deposition that he did not remember what activities he participated in on June 19, 2000. Robert Lay did not testify at all regarding his activities on June 18, 2000. (Record at 460-463).

In response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 6, Kansas City Southern failed to state

³The discovery issues listed herein are not an exhaustive list of defective responses contained within the Motion To Compel. Please refer to the Kilhullen's Motion To Compel for a complete listing of the Defendants' insufficient discovery responses.

whether Robert W. Lay, Gilbert Sharp or any manager, supervisor, official or other employee involved in the accident has ever been warned, suspended, terminated or otherwise disciplined for violations of safety rules, regulations or procedures. (Record at 418). Robert Lay testified in his deposition that he had received several disciplinary actions resulting in suspensions without pay while employed for Kansas City Southern. Particularly, Robert Lay testified that he had been suspended for over 6 months without pay for various violations. However, Robert Lay could not provide the dates upon which the various suspensions had occurred. (Record at 477-487).

In response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 12, Kansas City Southern failed to identify the last time prior to the subject accident that the brakes on the subject train were inspected or otherwise tested by any entity. Kansas City Southern's argument that the engine "was not a Kansas City Southern engine therefore Kansas City Southern does not know when the brakes were last inspected by a mechanic" is without merit in that Kansas City Southern would obviously be entitled to such information regarding the safety and reliability of the engines by virtue of any contract and/or lease agreement with Santa Fe. (Record at 420). In response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 16, Kansas City Southern failed to state whether or not Gilbert Sharp has ever been involved in any accidents either prior to or subsequent to the subject accident. In his deposition, Robert Lay testified that he had been involved in three (3) accidents which occurred in Bolton, Arcadia and Newton. Robert Lay further testified that he could not recall the dates upon which each such accident occurred. Kansas City Southern failed to produce any documentation whatsoever relative to the three (3) accidents. (Record at 421).

In response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 18, Kansas City Southern failed to provide the address, telephone number and place of employment for Jerry Eakin, Mark Redd, G.D. Harmon, Gene Calrk (sic), L.K. Fultz and K.B. Williams. (Record at 422). Despite this purposeful exclusion, Kansas City Southern attached as Exhibits to its Motion For Summary Judgment, the Affidavits of Mike McDonald, Greg Evans, Larry Parks and Dan Colvin. Kansas City Southern never identified Larry Parks or Dan Colvin in discovery in this civil action. Kilhullen was first placed on notice of the identity of Mr. Parks and Mr. Colvin when served with the Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment on or about October 22, 2004. (Record at 317-319). Although Kansas City Southern had previously identified Mike McDonald and Greg Evans as potential expert witnesses, Kansas City Southern did not produce any documents and other tangible things upon which said "experts" supposedly based their opinions and expected testimony.

Given the insufficient discovery responses and given the surprise Affidavits of Parks and Colvin, Kilhullen should have been allowed to depose each individual identified by the Appellees in response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 16, including, but not limited to, Mike McDonald, Greg Evans Larry Parks and Dan Colvin, so as to determine the identity of those persons who had discoverable knowledge relative to the subject accident. Furthermore, Kilhullen should have been allowed to depose those individuals so that Kilhullen could prepare a proper and complete responsive pleading to the Motion For Summary Judgment.

While not an exhaustive listing, the following discovery responses were also inadequately or incompletely answered by Appellee Kansas City Southern prior to said the service of Kansas City Southern's Motion For Summary Judgment:

1. In response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 24, Kansas City Southern failed to identify the persons and/or firms which conducted an investigation into the accident. Kansas City Southern has further failed to identify all investigative documents and/or reports generated during the course of the investigation. (Record at 423-424)

- 2. In response to Kilhullen's Interrogatory Number 25, Kansas City Southern failed to identify each and every person who performed construction, maintenance and/or repair work on the subject grade crossing. (Record at 424).
- 3. In response to Kilhullen's Request For Production Number 4, Kansas City Southern failed to identify and produce any and all documents and other tangible things relative to construction, repairs, equipment installation, sign installation, warning device installation, painting or other activities performed upon the subject grade crossing from the time the grade crossing was first constructed to the present. (Record at 429).
- 4. In response to Kilhullen's Request For Production Number 7, Kansas City Southern failed to identify and produce the dispatcher's record of train movements for the subject railroad for the forty-eight (48) hour period prior to and after the subject accident. (Record at 430).
- 5. In response to Kilhullen's Request For Production Number 8, Kansas City Southern failed to identify and produce all documents and other tangible things relative to the information contained on any event recorder, speed indicator, inservice event recorder, "black box", "hot box" detector, shifting load detector, dragging equipment detector or similar devices installed on the subject train or railroad. (Record at 430).
- 6. In response to Kilhullen's Request For Production Number 9, Kansas City Southern failed to produce audio recordings, voice tapes and/or other electronic recordings which relate or pertain to rail traffic between Shreveport and Meridian during the forty-eight (48) hours prior to and after the subject accident. (Record at 430). In his deposition, Robert Lay testified that he communicated with the dispatcher on June 20, 2000, and that he attempted to communicate with others after the subject accident had occurred. (Record at 501-505).
- 7. In response to Kilhullen's Request For Production Number 10, Kansas City Southern failed to identify and produce all documents and other tangible things relative to grade construction, warning sign or system construction and rail construction for one (1) mile east of the subject grade crossing and one (1) mile west of the subject grade crossing. (Record at 430-431).
- 8. In response to Kilhullen's Request For Production Number 11, Kansas City Southern failed to produce reports of daily inspection and track permits pertaining to the subject locomotives. Kansas City Southern produced "Inspection Reports" generated after the accident, not prior to the accident as requested. (Record at 431). Robert Lay testified in his deposition that he prepared a "Daily Inspection Report" relative to the two (2) engines prior to leaving Meridian. (Record at Kansas City Southern has wholly failed to identify and produce the "Daily Inspection

Report" generated by Robert Lay on June 20, 2000. (Record at 506).

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