IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-01564

GIGI KILHULLEN

V.

KANSAS CITY SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND ROBERT W. LAY

APPELLANT

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SCOTT COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

CHARLES E. ROSS (MSB NO. BILL LOVETT (MSB NO. WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY Professional Association 600 Heritage Building 401 East Capitol Street Post Office Box 651 Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0651 Phone: (601) 968-5500 Facsimile: (601) 968-5593

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-01564

GIGI KILHULLEN

APPELLANT

APPELLEES

V.

KANSAS CITY SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY AND ROBERT W. LAY

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

With her long and convoluted brief, Kilhullen attempts to confuse the otherwise straightforward factual, procedural, and legal issues on which the trial court ruled, and which are now before this Court on appeal. This is, in fact, a simple case of a plaintiff's failure to (1) conduct discovery when she had ample time to do so, (2) designate qualified witnesses (lay or expert) through whom she could present evidence sufficient to overcome summary judgment, and (3) present the trial court with relevant evidence on which it could find the existence of a genuine issue of material fact.

Notwithstanding Kilhullen's argument to the contrary, the trial court acted within its discretion in denying her request for summary-judgment related discovery. Kilhullen did

not make then, and cannot make now, a convincing argument as to why she was unable to conduct the requested discovery during the more than two years prior to the filing by Kansas City Southern of its Motion for Summary Judgment. The stated reason, that the legislative duties of Charlie Ross, counsel for Kansas City Southern Kilhullen, prevented her from taking the depositions of fact witnesses, is simply untrue. Charlie Ross was only ever one of multiple attorneys representing Kansas City Southern in this matter, and his presence was not required by Kansas City Southern in order for Kilhullen's depositions to go forward. Truth of the matter is, Kilhullen made no attempt to depose witnesses - not even Classie Ward, whom Kilhullen admits to interviewing prior to filing suit herein and whom Kilhullen argues on appeal would have provided Kilhullen with favorable testimony (even though such testimony would have been in direct contradiction to the favorable testimony Classie Ward gave on Kansas City Southern's behalf) - until after Kansas City Southern filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. Add to this the fact that Kilhullen could not show that the requested discovery would provide her with the evidence she needed to overcome summary judgment, and it becomes abundantly clear that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the requested discovery.

The trial court also acted within its discretion by excluding from consideration on summary judgment the affidavits of Shelton and Halfacre, which it correctly found to be inadmissible. Neither Shelton or Halfacre were qualified to render their proffered opinions as to how the accident occurred, and the purported inadequacy of the sight distance at the subject crossing. Indeed, both Shelton and Halfacre freely admitted they were not qualified to render such accident reconstruction opinions. Moreover, the proffered opinions (that the sight distance was insufficient to allow Mr. Kilhullen to beat a train, once it came into view) were not relevant to the issue at hand (whether the sight distance was

sufficient to allow Mr. Kilhullen to stop once the train came into view, as both state law and federal trucking regulations mandated). Such unreliable and unhelpful opinions are strictly inadmissible under Rules 402, 701 and 702 and under *Daubert*. To have found otherwise would have constituted reversible error.

So, too, did the trial court act within its discretion by excluding the Alexander affidavit. Kilhullen offered the affidavit to, in her words, show that Halfacre's testimony was competent expert testimony. However, even assuming Alexander to be a qualified accident reconstruction expert, Alexander's expertise could not turn Halfacre into an expert qualified to render an accident reconstruction opinion. Additionally, to the extent Kilhullen offered Alexander's affidavit as independent summary judgment evidence, Alexander's proffered opinion (which was identical to Halfacre's) was irrelevant in that it addressed only whether Mr. Kilhullen could have beat the train once it came into view, as opposed to whether Mr. Kilhullen had time to stop before entering the crossing. Regardless, because Kilhullen submitted the Alexander more than a year after the hearing on Kansas City Southern's Motion for Summary Judgment and made no attempt to show excusable neglect for her failure to timely submit the affidavit, the trial court correctly excluded the affidavit from its summary judgment considerations.

Finally, given the trial court's correct rulings on the *Daubert* and other evidentiary matters herein, the trial court's finding that Kilhullen failed to show the existence of a genuine issue of material fact and that Kansas City Southern was therefore entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law, was correct, and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, this Court considers *de novo* all evidence in the appeal record. *Bennett v. Madakasira*, 821 So. 2d 794, 797 (Miss. 2002).

However, the standard of review for whether to allow discovery after a motion for summary judgment has been filed and for the admission or suppression of evidence such as at issue herein, *e.g.*, the trial court's decision to strike affidavits based on Rules 56(c), 402, 701, 702 and *Daubert*, is abuse of discretion. *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss.2003). Further, the Court may affirm the trial court's decision on any ground sufficient to sustain the judgment below. *Brocato v. Mississippi Publishers Corp.*, 503 So.2d 241, 244 (Miss. 1987) (quoting FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE: CIVIL 2D § 2716, P. 658 (1983) and (citing *Hickox v. Holleman*, 502 So. 2d 626 (Miss. 1987) *rev'd on other grounds*) (finding, "We are first interested in the result of the decision, and if it is correct we are not concerned with the route – straight path or detour – which the trial court took to get there").

I. THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING KILHULLEN'S REQUEST FOR RULE 56(F) DISCOVERY

In the more than two (2) years following the completion of written discovery, Kilhullen gave no indication that Kansas City Southern's responses to her written discovery requests were anything other than complete. Nor did Kilhullen make any attempt to depose any of the fact witnesses of whom she had knowledge, or retain/designate expert witnesses to testify to her sight distance claim. Only after Kansas City Southern filed its Motion for Summary Judgment did she designate any expert witnesses or complain that Kansas City Southern's discovery responses were insufficient or seek to depose the witnesses disclosed therein.¹³

¹³ Chief among Kilhullen's stated reasons why she did not have the opportunity to conduct discovery during these years of inactivity were the number of continuances of trial dates, and the legislative duties of Charlie Ross, counsel for Kansas City Southern. (R 335-38) These are red herrings. Charlie Ross was never, the only attorney representing Kansas City Southern in this matter. (See, e.g., R 110, 281, and 309) During the legislative sessions of which Kilhullen complains, Kansas City Southern's (continued...)

A plea for discovery such as Kilhullen's herein (R 335) need not be granted when, as in this case, the movant has had ample time and opportunity for discovery, and the basis for her request is nothing more than a vague assertion that discovery is needed. See, e.g., Marx v. Truck Renting and Leasing Ass'n, Inc., 520 So. 2d 1333, 1343-44 (Miss. 1987) (holding that, when a party opposing a motion for summary judgment has not used of the time available to her in which to conduct discovery, she " may not rely on vague assertions that discovery will produce needed, but unspecified, facts," in her Rule 56(f) motion). Quoting the Supreme Court in Marx, "Rule 56(f) is not designed to protect the litigants who are lazy or dilatory...," Id. See also, Journey v. Berry, 953 So. 2d 1145, 1160 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (holding same); Stall worth v. Sanford, 921 So. 2d 340, 343 (Miss. 2006) (holding same); Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center, Inc., 929 So. 2d 924, 938 (Miss. 2005) (holding same); Hobgood v. Koch Pipeline Southeast, 769 So. 2d 838, 845 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (holding same); Prescott v. Leaf River Forest Prods, Inc., 740 So. 2d 301, 308 (Miss. 1999); Holifield v. Pitts Swabbing Co., 533 So. 2d 1112, 1117-18 (Miss. 1988). Nor may Rule 56(f) "be used to avoid diligence in pursuing formal discovery." Partin, 929 So. 2d at 938.

In each of the above-cited cases, the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals affirmed

¹³(...continued)

other attorneys of record were at all times available, and Kilhullen never even sought to schedule depositions during the entire two (2) year period. As for the continuances, Kilhullen is simply wrong in asserting that Kansas City Southern sought the continuances as a delaying tactic. Three times each year, Judge Cotton sets every case on his docket for trial, and does so without regard to the status o the case or the availability of the parties or their attorneys. For this reason, the parties requested and were granted thirteen continuances. The reason for requesting some, but not all, of those continuances was that discovery was incomplete. *See, e.g.,* R 226 (asserted by Kilhullen), 234 (joint motion), 262 (joint motion), 261 (asserted by Kansas City Southern), 271 (joint motion), and 332 (asserted by Kilhullen had ample time in which to conduct discovery. This fact in NO way equates with an inability to conduct discovery, however, and cannot serve as a substitute for due diligence for Rule 56(f) purposes. The trial court gave these arguments the weight they deserved when it denied Kilhullen's request for summary judgment-related discovery. Kansas City Southern urges this Court to give it the same weight, *viz.*, none.

decisions by trial courts to deny requests for Rule 56(f) discovery when the movant failed to conduct discovery within three (3) to five (5) months between the filing of a complaint and motion for summary judgment. *See, e.g., Hobgood,* 769 So. 2d at 845 (finding three (3) months to have been ample time in which to conduct discovery needed to respond to summary judgment); *Journey,* 953 So. 2d at 1160 (finding four (4) months to be enough); *Marx,* 520 So. 2d at 1344 (finding five (5) months to be enough). The <u>more than two (2)</u> <u>years in which Kilhullen could have, but did not, conduct discovery <u>FAR exceeds what has</u> <u>been found to be sufficient time for Rule 56(f) purposes.</u></u>

Moreover, in cases such as this where the Rule 56(f) movant did not and cannot show that she diligently sought the requested discovery before the filing of the summary judgment motion, the trial court is within its discretion to deny the Rule 56(f) request and grant summary judgment forthwith. *See, e.g., Hobgood,* 769 So. 2d at 846. Add to this the fact that the trial court determined during the Summary Judgment Hearing that the discovery sought would not produce any evidence to support Kilhullen's opposition to summary judgment (R Vol. 10, pp. 46-52), and the only conclusion that can be drawn as to the propriety of the trial court's decision to deny summary judgment-related discovery is that the trial court did not err, or abuse its discretion, in so holding. *See Hobgood,* 769 So. 2d at 846 (holding that a trial court is within its discretion to deny a Rule 56(f) motion when, as in this case, the requested discovery "would avail h(er) nothing").

For these reasons, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision to deny Kilhullen's request fr discovery pursuant to either her Motion to Compel or her Rule 56(f) motion. In so ruling, the trial court clearly acted within its discretion.

II. KILHULLEN PRESENTED THE TRIAL COURT WITH NO ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE ON WHICH IT COULD RULE IN HER FAVOR ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Having failed to depose any of the fact witnesses subject to her Rule 56(f) motion

or otherwise pursued discovery in the more than two (2) years between the completion

of written discovery and the filing by Kansas City Southern of its Motion for Summary

Judgment, Kilhullen attempted to create a genuine issue of material fact by designating

her paralegal Jimmy Shelton as a lay witness. (R 340, RE 17) Prior to the issuance of the

order on which this appeal is based, she would also submit affidavits from two additional

"expert" witnesses. The first, Halfacre, she disclosed on the eve of the Summary Judgment

Hearing. (R 645, RE 20) The second, Alexander, she disclosed more than a year after the

Summary Judgment Hearing.¹⁴⁻¹⁵

The opinions proffered by each of Kilhullen summary judgment witness were virtually

¹⁴ In defense of the Alexander affidavit, Kilhullen argues on appeal that the Summary Judgment Hearing was merely a "preliminary hearing," and that the *Daubert* Hearing was, in fact, the Rule 56 hearing. (A 15-17 and 19-20) The fact that the *Daubert* Hearing could ultimately decide the question of summary judgment neither converts the *Daubert* Hearing into a summary judgment hearing, nor downgrades the January, 2005 Summary Judgment Hearing to a "preliminary hearing," as Kilhullen suggests. Nor do Kilhullen's arguments in support of the timeliness of the Halfacre affidavit at the January 5, 2005 hearing support her newly invented "preliminary hearing" theory. She argued then that the Halfacre affidavit was timely filed, and thus admissible under Rule 56(c), because it was submitted on the day before the *Daubert* Hearing. Kilhullen's "preliminary hearing" theory is another red herring.

¹⁵ The Alexander affidavit sets forth, *inter alia*, Alexander's independent opinion as to sight distance at the subject crossing. (R 938 (¶ 5), RE 29; A 57 (so conceding)) For this reason alone, it must be considered evidence in support of Plaintiff's Response to the Motion for Summary Judgment. Add to this, however, its stated purpose – to make the Halfacre affidavit admissible and thus survive summary judgment – and it becomes crystal clear that the affidavit is summary judgment evidence. Kilhullen nevertheless argues that the Alexander affidavit is not subject to Rule 56(c) because it was submitted in support of her *Daubert* Response, only. (A14-17 and 58; *see also* A at n. 5) While attached as an exhibit to Plaintiff's *Daubert* Response, the Alexander affidavit ultimately supports, and is inextricably intertwined with, Plaintiff's Response to the KCS Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. As such, the Alexander affidavit is summary judgment evidence, subject to Rule 56.

identical:

- Shelton opined that, given the sight distance at the subject crossing, "it would have been impossible for (Mr.) Kilhulien to move his truck across the tracks and clear the tracks before being struck by the train. (R 342, RE 19)
- Halfacre opined that, given the sight distance at the subject crossing, "it was physically impossible for (Mr.) Klihullen to visualize the train, comprehend and react to its presence, and . . . safely move the tractor-trailer rig across the tracks to a point of safety (on the other side) of the grade crossing. . . . " (R 647, RE 22)
- Alexander opined that Mr. "Kilhullen... was not provided a clear line of sight adequate to enable (him) to see the approaching train, react to the presence of the train, and safely pass through the grade crossing." (R 938, RE 29)

Kansas City Southern challenged the admissibility of each of these opinions on various grounds specific to the individual witness. However, as discussed below, Kansas City Southern raised the same objection to all three of these witnesses (relevancy), and the trial court's correct decision on this one issue is a sufficient basis on which this Court can affirm. *Brocato.,* 503 So.2d at 244; *Hickox*, 502 So. 2d at 626.

The above-quoted opinions of Shelton, Halfacre and Alexander shared a common theme: the sight distance at the subject crossing was not sufficient for Mr. Kilhullen to have safely crossed in front of the train, once he saw it coming, *i.e.* sufficient for him to beat the train.¹⁶ Even if there had been no objection to these witnesses' testimony based on their

¹⁶ Kilhullen makes much ado about Kansas City Southern's use of the term "beat" in summarizing this (continued...)

qualifications, or the timeliness/propriety of their presentation to the trial court, which is not at all the case, their opinions would nevertheless be inadmissible because they were not relevant to any material fact at issue in this case.¹⁷ This is so whether judged according to Rule 402¹⁸ of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, or *Daubert*. MRE 702 and comments thereto; *McLemore*, 863 So. 2d at 38 (adopting "the federal standards... for assessing the reliability and admissibility of expert testimony").

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